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NOTE ON VISIT TO CHINA AND INDO-CHINA.

" During my visit to China, I had:a number of talks
with the ‘Chinése Yeaderss I had long talks with Preémier
Chou En-lai separately.' I also had joint talks with
Chairman Mac Tse-tung and his principal colleagues, viz,,
Vice-Chairman Chu Teh,-Chairman of the Stending Commiftee
Af the Peoplés Congress Liu: Shao-chi, Premier Chou En-lail,

"~ Vice-Chairman Soong Ching-ling (Madame Sun Yat-sen), Vice-
Premier Chen Yen and the Chinese Ambassador in India. On
our side in these joint talks, we had our Secretary General,
N.R. Pillai, and*our Ambassador in Peking, N. Rsghaven. We
both had interpreters - with us. , N

2. I met separately the principal Ministers dealing
with economic and financial policy and the Five Year Plan.
Also Ministers dealing with land problem and flood contrel.

3. All these -talks were through interpreters. Chairman

" Mao and most of his colleagues did. not understend English at
all., Premier Chou'En-lai understood English a little and
ocdasionally sald a word or two in English, but his knowledge
of English was limited. Madame Sun Yat-sen, of course, knew
English well and I had a separate direct talk,with her also.

4, I met large numbers of other leading personalities
‘including the Dalal Lama, the Psnchen Lama and scientists,
medical mén, engineers, people connected with.cultural affeirs,
some representatives of nationelities, educationists, actors
and actresses. .My talks with these groups were brief and
usually took place in big receptions. : ‘

5. " Qur talks covered a large range of subjects. I was
interested in the finances and economic impliceticns ef the
Five Year Plan. I do not, however, propose to deal here with
these tslks regarding financial and economic matters as it was
not possible for me to get a full grasp of these rather
complicated subjects. I was promised a full note on these
matters which I have not yet received. .I might mention here
that the Chinesge budget for this year amounted to about:
Revenue -- 4,500 million US dollers, and Expenditure -- over
5,000 millien US dollars. TPhere was thus a deficit of 700
million US dollars. I was told that during the two previous
years there had been conside—able surpluses and the nresent
deficit Wwas covered by them. The chief sources of income
were the turn-over tax and profits from State underteakings.
Income from land was inconsiderable. It should be remembered
that China is very much a unitary and centralised State, so
that the budget was for the whole of China.

6. My discussions sbout flood control and cultural
matters were also interesting.

Ay The real discussions were with Premier Chou En-lal

and Chairman Mao and party. Although we talked sbout a

large variety of subjects, I shall refer here only to some
principal points that arose in the course of these discussions.

8. Mao referred to the asge old association as
wdllfas to the new friendship between China and India. Both
coufitries were struggling for peace. They had had more or
less common experiences in recent history and both countries

contde...
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needed peace to reconstruct their -economies as both wers
industrially backwsrd. The Chairman considered that India
was industrially somewhat more advanced. But bath i
countries were in this respect backward and had large
populations. Industrial develapment had to we achieved .,
guickly in both. Given peace, it might take China about

four Five Yeer Plans, i.e. 20 years or sn, te& becsme an . .
industrial cauntry with foundations laid for & socié&list’
ecAnemy, China, therefore, was anxicus for peace. But:

some ¢ountries, notably USA, were obstructing "this nrocess.
.USA was occupying, or helping in the occupetisn, not only

of Fermesa, but many islends very near the Chinese mainland.
There was bombardment ef the Chinese -mainland from these
islands and air-raids were frequently carried out. During

the past two years, there had been alr-drapping in the

Chinese mainland nnt ~nly ef groups af men, but alse of
wireless transmitters and other equipment. Many of such
groups had been rornded up and caught. Mest ofvthem_consisted
of Chinese Kuomintang agents, but there were:some Americans
also among them, Riedien 2NN i
9. . China was not a threat to any coauntry ahd'Wished to
live in peace with all ether countries. But the USA"did not
permit her to do so and even brought pressure to bear upon
EnglenA, France end other countries to prevent them from
coopersting with China. :

© 10, The'questiOn'of Formosa or the other lslands occupied
by Formosan troops was not discussed by me. But it was made
oclear to me ‘thaf great importsence was attached by the Chinese
Government to this issue of Telwan and, ever more so; to the
iglands of the mainlend and the interference with normal
coastal trade and attacks nn the mainland. : '

97, Some reference was made to the Manila Treaty and
' Chairmen Man pointed cut that this Treaty was the result of
the American reaction to the Geneva Agréement. The Americen
“Government did not like that Agreement and wanted to come in
the way of peaceful settlements.

12, Reference was also made to the five »pvincinles which
nad been included in the joint declaraticns issued by India
arid China and Burma and China. It was agreed that if these
principles were agreed to by other countries and acéted upon
by all of them, this would ge a long way in removing tensions
and feers. ,
13. T agreed to this and pointed out thet (tkere was no
doubt that there was a certain emount of fear’in the minds
of the smaller natio:s in Asia of China. That fear might
have no basis, but the fact remeined theat there was that
fear. Some of these countries were psrheps also afraid of
Tndia. It was essential, therefore, that this fear and
suspicion should be removed. In the past both the Chinese
and Indian peoples had spread n~ut to countries in South East
Asia and there were conslderable populations of overseas
Chinese and overseas Indians.
-
14. - Chairman Mao agreed that these fears must Be removed
and nothing should be done which might cause appreh&psion to
. these countries. ' %

15. Tn this connection reference wes made, especially, to
the Chinese overseas and to the question of thelir nationelity.,

contd....
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I was assured,what I had been told previously, that the
Chinese Government wanted to settle this questien in
cooperation with the countries concerned. There were some
difficulties in dealingwith it as a whole. They proposed,
therefore, to deasl with it separately for each country. The
Prime Minister of Burma, U Nu, would be visiting China soon
and they would discuss this matter with him. . Later they
would discuss this with Indonesia., Their general approach
was that the Chiness abroad should choose theilr natlcnality,
that is, whether they would continue as Chinese natiocnals our
become nationals of the country they lived in. There should
be no dual nationality. It seemed to me that while this
point was quite clear in the minds of the Chinese lezders,
they had some apprehensions lest any step that they might take
might be to the adventage of the Formosa Government. Hence
this csution in approach and the separate approaches.,

16. The Chinese lesders repeatedly assured me that they
did rot wan: war and that they were prepared to cooperate
with every country and have diplomatic relations with it,
even though that country was spposed to them, They mentioned,
in this connection, particularly Theilend and the Philippines
which, they nointed out, were completely under the influence
of the USA., This itself was evidence of the Chinese desire
ty live at peace with other countries. These countries, I was
told, accused China of thinking in terms of aggression, but
did not respond to the Chinese offer to establish improved
relations. China was prevared to issue Jjoint statements on
the basis of the five principles with other countries. This
wculd rule out aggression as well as internal interference.

17. Reference was made by me especially to this internal
interference through local Communist parties. I was assured
that China did not wish to interfere in any way with local
affairs. '

18, Chairman Mao dealt at some length with the past two
World Wars and their revolutionary conseguernces. He pointed
out that China had no atom bombs or any cquipment of the
latest type. But the US and the USSR had hoth. Ultimately

it was the people who would count.and whn would be the
deciding factors. He pointed out that the experience af both
the World Wars was that the countries who started the war were
defeated and those who were on the defence won. Anether
coisequence was revolutions in some countries and the freedom
of some colonial countries. Thus, 1f unfortunately another
World War took place, disastrous as it might De, it would lead
to the defeat of the aggressors and possibly other
revolutionary changes might take place. He vwas not afreid of
a war if it came, bul he did not want it because of 1ts
disastrous consequences to the world and mecause it would come
in the way of developing thelr countries. :

12. T was not fully in agreement with Chairman Mao's
analysis, but I eatirely agreed with him that war must be
avoided and every step which might lead to war should also,
therefore, be avoided.

20. My talks with Premler Chou Fn-lai covered larger
ground # He referred also to the United States policy which
came ¥ the way of peace and created tense situstions in the
Far Bast. "Why", he asked, "was America so aggressive and
what was her motive in carrying on these aggressive activities
in the Fer East?" I replied that I did not think that the

contd.. ..



Wilson Center Digital Archive Original Scan

9

American peonle wanted war but undoubtedly they were efraid
of Communist aggression 2nd wanted to take action to protect
their interests. Premier Chou did not guite agree with

me and said that America's volicy was an expansionist policy.
Je referred to the milit~ry aid given to Pekistan which

had nothing to fear frem Chine or the Soviet Union. Aamerica,
according to him, wanted to bully wezker nations and rule

the world.

21. I pointed out to Premier Chou thet this was evactly
whet some countries in the Vest said about Soviet Imperialism
and Communism endangering the pesce of Furope and the world.
They said also that Communists did not want war because they
thought they could get everything without war, that is, by
infiltration and other tacties. '

22, Premier Chou said th-t this was absurd. Chine

had already mnde a decleration of five princivles, and
revolution could not be imported from ecutside. ZHe referred
to the Kuomintang forces on the Burmese borders and said
that China would have been justified in attacking them as
they were creatifng trouble on the C:inese side. But the

C .inese Government realised the difficulties of the Govern-
ment. of Burna and wanted to bhe friendly to them. Therefore,
they desisted from any nctivity "=gzinst the Kuomintang
troons there. '

23. I referred to Chinese mans which still showed nortions
of Burma ard ever of India as if they were within Chinese
territory. ©So far as India was concerned, I addec, we were
nét much concerned sbout this metter because our boundarles
were quite clesr =nd were not & matter for argumert. But
many peonle took =dvantnge of these old m=ns and argued thet

‘ China had an aggressive intent or else why continue to use
these mans. In Burma also this caused anorehension.

2., Premier Chou reonlled that these maps were old ones
and Chinz h-d not done any surveving to draw new mans. Thelr
boundaries even with l'ongolia ard the Soviet Union were

still not clearly demercnted and there wers discrepancies.

I nointed out thst this might be so. 5o far as Incila

was concerned, I repeated, there wrs no doubt about our
boundaries and I was not worried =bout them. But I

wondered how China would feel if a part of Tibet had been
shown S pert of India in our mams.

25. I referred also to the csse of K.I.5ingh, n Nepslese
national, who hed rebelled ngainst his Government and who,
sccording to renorts, hed been given encouragement in Chin=.
This kind of thing crested anprehensions in the minds of
isian countries. Premier Chou renlied thot XK.I1.Singh crossed
into Chinese territory with some other men in possession of
rifles snd ammunition. According to international custom, |
China disarmed them =2nd gave them ssylum. Iothing more was
done. He referred ih this connection to the intention of the
Dalai Lamza at one time to go to Indie. The Indian

Ambassador h=d t-~1d the Chinege Goverrmment ten thet 1f the
Dalai Lama came to Irdia and sought asylum, they could not
refuse’ tiis 2nd they would trest him with courtesy but would
not encourage an political sctivities on his nert.. is a
matter of fact, the Dalail Lama did not go to Indiz %ut some
of his rolatives did go there ard h~é heen given asytum. The
Chinese Government did not mind this. In K.I. Singh'$s

case, the Chinese Government had given him asylum and he
would not be allowed to take »nrrt in any noliticz2l ectivity
against his country.

contd....
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26. Premier Chou osked me questions z2hout lMNepz2l and
verious other countries. He referred to his invitestion

to the Indonesian Primec I‘inister to come to Chinz. The
Indonesian Prime Minister hrd ex-ressed theé wish th:-t

Premier Chou should first go to Indonesia. This was not
nossible for someé time as he was very busv with important
work, more esmeci=lly as he had been absent for a long time
in Geneva and elsewhere. Premior Chou wes p p=rticulsrly
interested in foreign influences =t work in verious countries
of Asia, more esnecially .American influences. He referred
especially to pressure brought uron them te Join the so-
called South-Iiast ..sla Defence Prg“nisqtlon “fe referred to
Thailsnd also and said the t they were arnxious to heve normal
reletions with it. = B '
27, Premier Chou 2lso asked me zhout my visit to Indo-
China and the nositioen there.

.28, Premier Chou referred to Korea. .de was =nxious thet

something should be done to settle the Korean problem. He
thought that 2 Conference should he held soon to consider

this and th-t the old Geneva Conference should be énlarged
for this nurnose by adding neutrz2l Asizn ceuntries.

29, I sz2id thet I agreadthst we must pursue methods

to arrive 2t a settlement in Korea =2rd a Conference for this
purnose would be necesssry. But such a Cenference should be
held at the right time when some ideas ahout a settlement
were clearer. Merely to have a Conference witheut such
ideas might lead again to a deadlock. Meanwhile, it was
important that we should not allow the situstion in Korea to
deteriorate.

30. We discussed Incie — China relc-tiens and the
e¥chenge of technicsl persornel, books, veriodicals etc.
Also an rgreement about air services. It was agreed thet
there should be a reciprocal arrengement for an Indian

alr service at a Chinese port, probably Canton. This matter
was to bhe discusscd further through dinlomatic channels.

31. I referred to certaein difficulties of pilgrims going
to Tibet. Premior Chou agreed to look into this matter =and
to remove such difficultles. He 21so agreed to the supply
of silk cocoons to Kashmir end suggested eur serding an
exnert to select the varieties.

32, e inform=d me about the Chinese desire to hsve
dinlomatic relstions with Ne»nel. I told him th=t the
Nepalese Government had kept us informed of this. The

King of Nenal h=d been ill and had gone to ‘Switzerland for
treatment. On his return, they would no doubt take u»

this m=tter. So frr as we were concerned, we would welcome
friendly relations between Ne»nal esnd Chine.

33, I gave him a brief outline of recent Ienslese history
and how »reviously lenel was far from indevencent, ta-t is,
before India bec=me indevendznt. There was no 1ntnrf@rence
in internal mstters, but otherwise the United kingdom was

the suzerain power. Indenendent India had accented the

full lnﬂcvondencp of NMepal »nd had not claimed some of the
rlghtg th~t Britain had exercised. But the two countries

hed zgr@9d that their foreign pOllClPS should be coordinsted.
It was cleor thet Irdia had a shecial nosition in Nenal and
it became necessery, therefore, for their foreign policies to
be in line with P“ch other. India c¢id not an-rove of foreign
intervention in Ne»wel in zny wev. As for Nenzl and China, it

contd.... .
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wee desirable that they should settle such problems as
esisted in regard to Tibet. The question of dinlomatic
renresentation could nrob=ably be dealt with by the Chinese
Ambassador in Delhi also bheing ~ceredited to Kathmendu. '
I »nointed out th-t I'enal was nassing through grave internal
g fficulties and we wanted to heln her to get over them =nd
not add to these difficulties. '

34. Premier” Chou asked me ahout the Afro-.sian ,
Conference. I told him that we had agreed on the nrincinle
of it hut hnd not decided the details =nd thet we were
1ikely to meet soon at Djakarta to consider this matter.
Premisr Chou welcomed the idea =nd it w=as evicdent from his
+alk with me thet he would like China to be invited to it.

35.- I have given 2 brief summ-ry. of our talks. These
telks both with Chairman Mao and Premicr Chou were frank
and friendly. We did not discuss the theories -or ldeology
underlying our-resnective political ~nd economic structurcs.
We knew thet they were differcnt =nd yet there was much

in common in the work of both the countries ~rid many of
our vnroblems were similsr, We entirelv ~greed th-t we
should resnect erch other's viewnoints =nd@ without inter-
ference coonerote in derling with our problems. More
esnecially we” should cooper=zte in the meintcnance of nezce
in Asia and the world =t l-rge.

3€. - Fssentially our nronlems werce alikc, trezt is vast
countries and ponulations, chiefly agricultural with low
standerds of living, anc the necessity te rzise these
standards by industrizlisation anc agrioultural'reform. Even
in regard td floods, we hed siviler nrobleris. Our anproach
to the solution of these nrchlems wns not the same and yet
there was much ir common with it -nd we could nrofit by e-ch
other's exverience, nrovided always there wis'n friendly
approzch »nd no interference with e~ch ether.

37. I recoived °n evytraordirarily cordial welcome
evervwhere in Chinz. This w2s not only an efficial welcome
but a popdrr elcome 2lsc 1n which milliens joined. I

was gre~tly impressed 7 it, It we=s clear to me that this
welcome rebresented something more than political exigency.
It was almost an emotional upherval redresenting the basie
urges of the neonle for friendshin with Incéi=a.

38. I have no dount a2t all that the Governnent ard
veonle of Chinn desire peace and vrnt to concentrate on
building un their country dvring the next dec=de or two.

39, I ssw many of the farous sights of Peking and
elsewnere. I visited thelr stecl nlents in Manchuria ‘to
which £ new ~ddition hed been mede with Soviet help. This
wes a fine rddition renidly constructed. I 2lso visited
Dairen, their port ard shin-building yard and various
factories.,

40, Cheirman Mao told me th-t they lacked technicizrs
and thzt they were recriving 2 ere=t deal of heln from
Soviet technicians which he welcomed. These technicians
came for limited periods, trained the Chinese r~nd went away.
Therée were no nolitical or othor strings attached, In their
recent ngreemwnt with the Soviet Government, the S viet .

hezd undertzker to »ut un 141 m=jor enternrises in China =s =2
nort of the Five Year Plan.

. I would add thet I nrrdly saw the vill=ges of Chins
d my imnressions were geothered cntirely from the hig cities.

contdecoo
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I visited Peking, Canton, Shanghai, Na x'néwhﬁankow,
Mukden, inshan and Dairen, The major impression I got

was of a countrv smoethly runring with enromois votential
strength which was being transleted. gradually into actual
strength. The »eonle I saw in the cities looked well-clad
ond well-fed, and I noticed no denression in frce or
demeanour. Young men and girls and children were »articularly
in evidence and they were a nleasant 1ook1ng crowd, jolly

and full of enthusiasm. Undnubtoclv there 1s a great.

deal of reglmont tion as it is called. Their discinline was
remarkable., But I would sayv th-t tho Chinese have always
heen a more or less d1d01ﬁlined neonle. The shons ppenrod
to be full of goods. There were thousands of small
nrivately-owned showns. Thero were some Hig State-owned
Denartment stores. These were =21so full of various kinds

of goods, thouch luxury articles were not in evidence.

These Demartment stores were- crowdﬁd with: 11ternlly thoussnds

‘of mersons.

42, . Another imnression that I gatﬂered was of the
essential Chineseness of almoqt everybody I met, from
leaders to the »ublic. Few versons know forelgn languages.
Tverything is done in Chinese. Chinese art. and eultural
activitics were encouraged znd there wss a great deal of

~pride in Chlna s great mast snd cultural accomnlishments.
" Cheirmen Mao, in the course of his-talks w1ta me, referred

on two or three occasions to some llnxS of 4 Chinese poet
of a thousand vears AgO.

43, I vi51tpd Chinese operas of the old style.r I also
saw 2 modern play of & pronagandist n=ature.

44, I 3id not sense the vpresence of any fesr among the
Chinese. They hnd plenty of self- confldence ~nd self-
assureance..

45, It must be remembered thot the CHinese »nassed through
40 years'! of revolutien, wer-leords, civil' war, Jananese
invasion »nd the world wer. Durlpg this pnerioc, they had no
neace or security. The mere coming. of weﬁce'rpd security is
a tremendous blaossing for the neonle now.' The feeling theat
they are strong ord united =nd »laving an indeﬂend@nt prrt

in the world a2dds to their self- eqtaomo“‘

46, I could not nelp foollng aurlng mV'v151t to China,
even mere then I have done before, How comdletely irrelevant
was the idea’ thet this grent nﬂtlon‘could be ignored or
bynassed. The idea of not ollow1nv them te funetion in

the United Nstiors anneared fantastlc° The time has »assed
when they car be injured much by this volicy. It is the
rest of world thert is more likely to suffer from it.

INDO-CIIINA

a7, I n2id wrief visits to Vientiane in Laos, Hanoi

anc Salgon, ard Phnom Penh in Cambodia. I a2lso visited the
famous ruins of Angkor vat. In 2ll these nlaces I met
nrominent nersonalities.

48, The person who imnressed me most was Dr. do Chi-minh
of the D=mocratic Republic of Viet- Lam, who came to see me 2t
Hanoi. Hanoil h=d 7o SSﬂd into his hernds just five days
nrevious to my arrival. This was 2 mneaceful =na very
disciplined transfer from the French to the Viet-Minh.
Dr. Ho Chi-minn impressed me as =n unusually frank, straight-
forward and likeble person. although he hzas heen engaged in

contd....
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a war for seven yesrs ageinst the French, he was the very
reverse of a war-like nerson. He struck me 25 a man of
peace and goodwill. He did not say = word against the French
to me. Indeed, he exnressed his desire for cooneration

- with the French and even to be associzted with the French
Union, provided his country had comnlete indej?ndence.g He
mentioned the reletionshin of India with the Cemmonwealth

 and asked me for further particulsrs about ity It was .
evident thet Viet-Minh was well-organised and discinlined.

- 49, South Viet-Nam pr&duced a completely ovposite .
sffect on me. The whole nlace seemed to be at sixes and
sevens with h-rdly =ny dominant authority. The Prime Minister
ard his Generals were opposed to each other. There were
three nrivate armies of some kind of semi-religious sects.

. Poreign Renrescntatives anparently also pulled in different
dirsctions. It was generally estimsted thet 1f there was
e.vote now, 90 mer cent or more of the ponulation would
vote for Viet-Minh. Whet would hapen a year or two later,
pne could not say. ' S i

50. Laos also anesred to be a sleepy and. 'rather depress-
ing nlsce. Thore was a good deal of French influence "there
still »nd the International Commission was facing rather
difficult »rohlems. . e
51. Cambodia wes somewhat different. It could be:
considered more or less indevendont altheugh there were on
or two issues still to be settled with the French. The
Internstional Commission had completed the greater pert of

its labours and the Joint Commission of the two parties had
finished its work. 'THe yéung king 1s populesr and is a bright
and agreeahle nerson. But it was said that he was in the
hands of a nalace clique. Some of his high-nleced officers
told me that unless the king got the sunport of some nrominent
leaders who stooc for far-reaching political asnd economic
reforms, the future w=as not havopy.

52. Premicr Chou Fn-lal asked me as to whether we were
going to recognise these Indo-China states. "I told kim. that
for a2ll nrrctical purnoses we were desling with them, elther
through the International Commission or otherwise, as 1f
we had recognised them. We intended sending Cénsuls-General
to them. For tha nresent, we did not intend going any
further hacause of our delicate position es Chrirman of the
three Internstional Commissiens.

83. Since my talk with Preémier Chou En-lai, I vassed
through Cambhodia and I felt thrt theo chse of Cambodia:was
somewhat different from the others and| we might perhaps g
a little further in our relations with that State. We ar
cohsidering this matter now. : '

J« Nehru
14.11.1954,

s
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SECRET
NOTE ON VISIT TO CHINA AND INDO-CHINA

During my visit to China, | had a number of talks with the Chinese readers. | had long
talks with Premier Chou En-lai [Zhou Enlai] separately. | also had joint talks with
Chairman Mao Tse-tung [Mao Zedong] and his principal colleagues, viz.,
Vice-Chairman Chu The, Chairman of the Standing Committee of the Peoples
Congress Liu Shao-chi [Liu Shaoqi], Premier Chou En-lai, Vice-Chairman Soong
ching-ling [Song Qingling] (Madame Sun Yat-Sen), Vice-Premier Chen Yen and
Chinese Ambassador in India. On our side in these joint talks, we had our Secretary
General, N.R. Pillai, and our Ambassador in Peking, N.Reghavan. We both had
interpreters with us.

2. | met separately the principal Ministers dealing with economic and financial policy
and the Five Year Plan. Also ministers dealing with land problem and flood control.

3. All these talks were through interpreters. Chairman Mao and most of his colleagues
did not understand English at all. Premier Chou En-lai understood English a little and
occasionally said a word or two in English, but his knowledge of English was limited.
Madame Sun Yat-sen, of course, knew English well and | had a separate direct talk
with her also.

4.1 met large numbers of other leading personalities including the Dalai Lama, the
Panchen Lama and scientists, medical men, engineers, people connected with
cultural affairs, some representatives of nationalities, educationists, actors and
actresses. My talks with these groups were brief and usually took place in big
receptions.

5. Our talks covered a large range of subjects. | was interested in the finances and
economic implications of the Five Year Plan. | do not, however, propose to deal here
with these talks regarding financial and economic matters as it was not possible for
me to get a full grasp of these rather complicated subjects. | was promised a full note
on these matters which | have not yet received. | might mention here that the
Chinese budget for this year amounted to about: Revenue -- 4,500 million US dollars,
and Expenditure -- over 5,000 million US dollars. There was thus a deficit of 700
million US dollars. | was told that during the two previous years there had been
considerable surpluses and the present deficit was covered by them. The chief
sources of income were the turn-over tax and profits from State undertakings. Income
from land was inconsiderable. It should be remembered that China is very much a
unitary and centralized State, so that the budget was for the whole of China.

6. My discussions about flood control and cultural matters were also interesting.

7. The real discussions were with Premier Chou En-lai and Chairman Mao and party.
Although we talked about a large variety of subjects, | shall refer here only to some
principal points that arose in the course of these discussions.

8. Chairman Mao referred to the age old association as well as the new friendship
between China and India. Both countries were struggling for peace. They had had
more or less common experiences in recent history and both countries needed peace
to reconstruct their economies as both were industrially backward. The Chairman
considered that India was industrially somewhat more advanced. But both countries
were in this respect backward and had large populations. Industrial development had
to be achieved quickly in both. Given peace, it might take China about four Five Year
Plans, i.e. 20 years or so, to become an industrial country with foundations laid for a
socialist economy. China, therefore, was anxious for peace. But some countries,



notably USA, were obstructing this process. USA was occupying, or helping in the
occupation, not only of Formosa, but many islands very near the Chinese mainland.
There was bombardment of the Chinese mainland from these islands and air-raids
were frequently carried out. During the past two years, there had been air-dropping
in the Chinese mainland not only of groups of men, but also of wireless transmitters
and other equipment. Many of such groups had been rounded up and caught. Most of
them consisted of Chinese Kuomintang agents, but there were some Americans also
among them.

9. China was not a threat to any country and wished to live in peace with all other
countries. But the USA did not permit her to do so and even brought pressure to bear
upon England, France and other countries to prevent hem form cooperating with
China.

10. The question of Formosa or the other islands occupied by Formosan troops was
not discussed by me. But it was made clear to me that great importance was
attached by the Chinese Government

11. Some reference was made to the Manila Treaty and Chairman Ma pointed out that
this Treaty was the result of the American reaction to the Geneva Agreement. The
American Government did not like that Agreement and wanted to come in the way of
peaceful settlements.

12. Reference was also to the five principles which had been included in the joint
declarations issued by India and China and Burma and China. It was agreed that if
these principles were agreed to by other countries and acted upon by all of them, this
would go a long way in removing tensions and fears.

13. | agreed to this and pointed out that there was n doubt that here was a certain
amount of fear in the minds of the smaller nations in Asia of China. That fear might
have no basis, but the fact remained that there was that fear. Some of these
countries were perhaps also afraid of India. It was essential, therefore, that this fear
and suspicion should be removed. In the past both the Chinese and Indian peoples
had spread out to countries in South East Asia and there were considerable
populations of overseas Chinese and overseas Indians.

14. Chairman Mao agreed that these fears must be removed and nothing should be
done which might cause apprehension to these countries.

15. In this connection reference was made, especially, to the Chinese overseas and to
the question of their nationality. | was assured, what | had been old previously, that
the Chinese Government wanted to settle this question in cooperation with the
countries concerned. There were some difficulties in dealing with it as a whole. They
proposed, therefore, to deal with it separately for each country. The Prime Minister of
Burma, U Nu, would be visiting China soon and they would discuss this with
Indonesia. Their general approach was that the Chinese abroad should choose their
nationality, that is, whether they would continue as Chinese nationals or become
nationals of the country they lived in. There should be no dual nationality. It seemed
to me that while this point was quite clear in the minds of the Chinese leaders, they
had some apprehensions lest any step that they might take might be to the
advantage of the Formosa Government. Hence, this caution in approach and the
separate approaches.

16. The Chinese leaders repeatedly assured me that they did not want war and that
they were prepared to cooperate with every country and have diplomatic relations
with it, even though that country was opposed to them. They mentioned, in this
connection, particularly Thailand and the Philippines which, they pointed out, were



completely under the influence of the USA. This itself was evidence of the Chinese
desire to live at peace with other countries. These countries, | was told, accused
China of thinking in terms of aggression, but did not respond to the Chinese offer to
establish improved relations. China was prepared to issue joint statements on the
basis of the five principles with other countries. This would rule out aggression as well
as internal interference.

17. Reference was made by me especially to this internal interference through local
Communist parties. | was assured that China did not wish to interfere in any way with
local affairs.

18. Chairman Mao dealt at some length with the past two World Wars and their
revolutionary consequences. He pointed out that China had no atom bombs or any
equipment of the latest type. But the US and the USSR had both. Ultimately it was the
people who would count and who would be the deciding factors. He pointed out that
the experience of both the World Wars was that the countries who started the war
were defeated and those who were on the defence won. Another consequence was
revolutions in some countries and the freedom of some colonial countries. Thus, if
unfortunately another World War took place, disastrous as it might be, it would lead
to the defeat of the aggressors and possibly other revolutionary changes might take
place. He was not afraid of a war if it came, but he did not want it because of its
disastrous consequences to the world and because it would come in the way of
developing their countries.

19. | was not fully in agreement with Chairman Mao’s analysis, but | entirely agreed
with him that war must be avoided and every step which might lead to war should
also, therefore, be avoided.

20. My talks with Premier Chou En-lai covered larger ground. He referred also to the
United States policy which came in the way of peace and created tense situations in
the Far East. “Why,” he asked, “was America so aggressive and what was her motive
in carrying on these aggressive activities in the Far East?” | replied that | did not think
that the American people wanted war but undoubtedly they were afraid of
Communist aggression and wanted to take action to protect their interests. Premier
Chou did not quite agree with me and said that America’s policy was an expansionist
policy. He referred to the military aid given to Pakistan which had nothing to fear
from China or the Soviet Union. America, according to him, wanted to bully weaker
nations and rule the world.

21. | pointed out to Premier Chou that this was exactly what some countries in the
West said about Soviet Imperialism and Communism endangering the peace of
Europe and the world. They said also that Communists did not want war because they
thought they could get everything without war, that is, by infiltration and other
tactics.

22. Premier Chou said that this was absurd. China had already made a declaration of
five principles, and revolution could not be imported from outside. He referred to the
Kuomintang forces on the Burmese borders and said that China would have been
justified in attacking them as they were creating trouble on the Chinese side. But the
Chinese Government realized the difficulties of the Government of Burma and wanted
to be friendly to them. Therefore, they desisted from any activity against Kuomintang
troops there.

23. I referred to Chinese maps which still showed portions of Burma and over of India
as if they were within Chinese territory. So far as India was concerned, | added, we
were not much concerned about this matter because our boundaries were quite clear
and were not a matter for argument. But many people took advantage of these old
maps and argued that China had an aggressive intent or else why continue to use



these maps. In Burma also this caused apprehension.

24. Premier Chou replied that these maps were old ones and China had not done any
surveying to draw new maps. Their boundaries even with Mongolia and the Soviet
Union were still not clearly demarcated and there were discrepancies. | pointed out
that this might be so. So far as India was concerned, | repeated, there was no doubt
about our boundaries and | was not worried about them. But | wondered how China
would feel if a part of Tibet had been shown as part of India in our maps.

25. | referred also to the case of K. I. Singh, a Nepalese national, who had rebelled
against his Government and who, according to reports, had been given
encouragement in China. This kind of thing created apprehensions in the minds of
Asian countries. Premier Chou replied that K. I. Singh crossed into Chinese territory
with some other men in possession of rifles and ammunition. According to
international custom, China disarmed them and gave them asylum. Nothing more
was done. He referred in this connection to the intention of the Dalai Lama at one
time to go to India. The Indian Ambassador had told the Chinese Government then
that if the Dalai Lama came to India and sought asylum, they could not refuse this
and they would treat him with courtesy but would not encourage any political
activities on his part. As a matter of fact, the Dalai Lama did not go to India but some
of his relatives did go there and had been given asylum. The Chinese Government did
not mind this. In K. I. Singh’s case, the Chinese Government had given him asylum
and he would not be allowed to take part in any political activity against his country.

26. Premier Chou asked me questions about Nepal and various other countries. He
referred to his invitation to the Indonesian Prime Minister to come to China. The
Indonesian Prime Minister had expressed the wish that Premier Chou should first go
to Indonesia. This was not possible for some time as he was very busy with important
work, more especially as he had been absent for a long time in Geneva and
elsewhere. Premier Chou was particularly interested in foreign influences at work in
various countries of Asia, more especially American influences. He referred especially
to pressure brought upon them to join the so-called South-East Asia Defence
Organisation. He referred to Thailand also and said that they were anxious to have
normal relations with it.

27. Premier Chou also asked me about my visit to Indo-China and the position there.

28. Premier Chou referred to Korea. He was anxious that something should be done
to settle the Korean problem. He thought that a Conference should be held soon to
consider this and that the old Geneva Conference should be enlarged for this purpose
by adding neutral Asian countries.

29. | said that | agreed that we must pursue methods to arrive at a settlement in
Korea and a Conference for this purpose would be necessary. But such a Conference
should be held at the right time when some ideas about a settlement were clearer.
Merely to have a Conference without such ideas might lead again to a deadlock.
Meanwhile, it was important that we should not allow the situation in Korea to
deteriorate.

30. We discussed India—China relations and the exchange of technical personnel,
books, periodicals etc. Also an agreement about air services. It was agreed that there
should be a reciprocal arrangement for an Indian air service at a Chinese port,
probably Canton. This matter was to be discussed further through diplomatic
channels.

31. | referred to certain difficulties of pilgrims going to Tibet. Premier Chou agreed to
look into this matter and to remove such difficulties. He also agreed to the supply of



silk cocoons to Kashmir and suggested our sending an expert to select the varieties.

32. He informed me about the Chinese desire to have diplomatic relations with Nepal.
| told him that the Nepalese Government had kept us informed of this. The King of
Nepal ad been ill and had gone to Switzerland for treatment. On his return, they
would no doubt take up this matter. So far as we were concerned, we would welcome
friendly relations between Nepal and China.

33. 1 gave him a brief outline of recent Nepalese history and how previously Nepal
was far from independent, that is, before India became independent. There was no
interference in internal matters, but otherwise the United Kingdom was the suzerain
power. Independent India had accepted the right that Britain had exercised. But the
two countries had agreed that their foreign policies should be coordinated. It was
clear that India had a special position in Nepal and it became necessary, therefore,
for their foreign policies to be in line with each other. India did not approve of foreign
intervention in Nepal in any way. As for Nepal and China, it was desirable that they
should settle such problems as existed in regard to Tibet. The question of diplomatic
representation could probably be dealt with by the Chinese Ambassador in Delhi also
being accredited to Kathmandu. | pointed out that Nepal was passing through grave
internal difficulties and we wanted to help her to get over them and not add to these
difficulties.

34. Premier Chou asked me about the Afro-Asian Conference. | told him that we had
agreed on the principle of it but had not decided the details and that we were likely to
meet soon at Djakarta to consider this matter. Premier Chou welcomed the idea and
it was evident from his talk with me that he would like China to be invited to it.

35. | have given a brief summary of our talks. These talks both with Chairman Mao
and Premier Chou were frank and friendly. We did not discuss the theories or ideology
underlying our respective political and economic structures. We knew that they were
different and yet there was much in common in the work of both the countries and
many of our problems were similar. We entirely agreed that we should respect each
other’s viewpoints and without interference cooperate in dealing with our problems.
More especially we should cooperate in the maintenance of peace in Asia and the
world at large.

36. Essentially our problems were alike, that is vast countries and populations, chiefly
agricultural with low standards of living, and the necessity to raise these standards by
industrialization and agricultural reform. Even in regard to floods, we had similar
problems. Our approach to the solution of these problems was not the same and yet
there was much in common with it and we could profit by each other’s experience,
provided always there was a friendly approach and no interference with each other.

37. I received an extraordinarily cordial welcome everywhere in China. This was not
only an official welcome but a popular welcome also in which millions joined. | was
greatly impressed by it. It was clear to me that his welcome represented something
more than political exigency. It was almost an emotional upheaval representing the
basic urges of the people for friendship with India.

38. | have no doubt at all that the Government and people of China desire peace and
want to concentrate on building up their country during the next decade or two.

39. | saw many of the famous sights of Peking and elsewhere. | visited their steel
plants in Manchuria to which a new addition had been made with Soviet help. This
was a fine addition rapidly constructed. | also visited Dairen, their port and
ship-building yard and various factories.



40. Chairman Mao told me that they lacked technicians and that they were receiving
a great deal of help from Soviet technicians which he welcomed. These technicians
came for limited periods, trained the Chinese and went away. There were no political
or other strings attached. In their recent agreement with the Soviet Government, the
Soviet had undertaker to put up 141 major enterprises in China as a part of the Five
Year Plan.

41. 1 would add that | hardly saw the villages of China and my impressions were
gathered entirely from the bit cities. | visited Peking, Canton, Shanghai, Nanking,
Hankow, Mukden, Anshan and Dairen. The major impression | got was of a country
smoothly running with enormous potential strength which was being translated
gradually into actual strength. The people | saw in the cities looked well-clad and
well-fed, and | noticed no depression in face or demeanor. Young men and girls and
children were particularly in evidence and they were a pleasant looking crowd, jolly
and full of enthusiasm. Undoubtedly there is a great deal of regimentation as it is
called. Their discipline was remarkable. But | would say that the Chinese have always
been a more or less disciplined people. The shops appeared to be full of goods. There
were some big State-owned Department stores. These were also full of various kinds
of goods, though luxury articles were not in evidence. These Department stores were
crowded with literally thousands of persons.

42. Another impression that | gathered was of the essential Chineseness of almost
everybody | met, from leaders to the public. Few persons know foreign languages.
Everything is done in Chinese. Chinese art and cultural activities were encouraged
and there was a great deal of pride in China’s great past and cultural
accomplishments. Chairman Mao, in the course of his talks with me, referred on two
or three occasions to some lines of a Chinese poet of a thousand years ago.

43. | visited Chinese operas of the old style. | also saw a modern play of a
propagandist nature.

44, | did not sense the presence of any fear among the Chinese. They had plenty of
self-confidence and self-assurance.

45. It must be remembered that the Chinese passed through 40 years’ of revolution,
war-lords, civil war, Japanese invasion and the world war. During this period, they had
no peace or security. The mere coming of peace and security is a tremendous
blessing for the people now. The feeling that they are strong and united and playing
an independent part in the world adds to their self-esteem.

46. | could not help feeling during my visit to China, even more than | have done
before, how completely irrelevant was the idea that this great nation could be ignored
or bypassed. The idea of not allowing them to function in the United Nations
appeared fantastic. The time has passed when they car be injured much by this
policy. It is the rest of world that is more likely to suffer from it.

INDO-CHINA

47. | paid brief visits to Vientiane in Laos, Hanoi and Saigon, and Phnom Penh in
Cambodia. | also visited the famous ruins of Angkor vat. In all these places | met
prominent personalities.

48. The person who impressed me most was Dr. Ho Chi-minh of the Democratic
Republic of Viet-Nam, who came to see me at Hanoi. Hanoi had passed into his hands
just five days previous to my arrival. This was a peaceful and very disciplined transfer
from the French to the Viet-Minh. Dr. Ho Chi-minh impressed me as an unusually
frank, straight-forward and likable person. Although he has been engaged in a war for



seven years against the French, he was the very reverse of a war-like person. He
struck me as a man of peace and goodwill. He did not say a word against the French
to me. Indeed, he expressed his desire for cooperation with the French and even to
be associated with the French Union, provided his country had complete
independence. He mentioned the relationship of India with the Commonwealth and
asked me for further particulars about it. It was evident that Viet-Minh was
well-organized and disciplined.

49. South Viet-Nam produced a completely opposite effect on me. The whole place
seemed to be at sixed and sevens with hardly any dominant authority. The Prime
Minister and his Generals were opposed to each other. There were three private
armies of some kind of semi-religious sects. Foreign Representatives apparently also
pulled in different directions. It was generally estimated that if there was a vote now,
90 percent or more of the population would vote for Viet-Minh. What would happen a
year or two later, one could not say.

50. Laos also appeared to be a sleepy and rather depressing place. There was a good
deal of French influence there still and the International Commission was facing
rather difficult problems.

51. Cambodia was somewhat different. It could be considered more or less
independent although there were one or two issues still to be settled with the French.
The International Commission had completed the greater part of its labors and the
Joint Commission of the two parties had finished its work. The young king is popular
and is a bright and agreeable person. But it was said that he was in the hands of a
palace clique. Some of his high-placed officers told me that unless the king got the
support of some prominent leaders who stood for far-reaching political and economic
reforms, the future was not happy.

52. Premier Chou En-lai asked me as to whether we were going to recognize these
Indo-China states. | told him that for all practical purposes we were dealing with
them, either through the International Commission or otherwise, as if we had
recognized them. We intended sending Consuls-General to them. For the present, we
did not intend going any further because of our delicate position as Chairman of the
three International Commissions.

53. Since my talk with Premier Chou En-lai, | passed through Cambodia and | felt that
the case of Cambodia was somewhat different from the others and we might perhaps
go a little further in our relations with that State. We are considering this matter now.

J. Nehru
14.11.54.



